
 

 
Planning Committee  - 27 September 2022 1 

 

A G E N D A 

 

 

 

20 September 2022 

 

Dear Member, 

 

A meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held remotely on Tuesday, 27th 

September, 2022 at 10.00 am when your attendance is requested. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Catherine Mealing-Jones 

Chief Executive 
 

 

 

Please ensure you mute your microphone during the meeting until the Chair 

invites you to speak.   

Should there be a comfort break during the meeting please ensure your 

microphone is on mute and that your camera is switched off. 

 

 

 

AGENDA 

 

ENC1  Apologies for Absence  

 

ENC2  Chair's Announcements  

 

 To receive a report from the Chairman on meetings attended and progress 

made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority. 

ENC3  Declarations of Interest  

 

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 

agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance sheet 

and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, specifying the nature 

of the interest. 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you inform 

the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be recorded in the 

minutes. 
  

  

  

ENC4  Minutes of last meeting (Pages 1 - 8) 

 

 To authorise the Chair to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

 

Planning Committee  - 27 September 2022 2 
 

Park Authority Planning Committee held on the 26th July 2022. 

  

ENC5  Development Management Reports for Decision  

 

 To receive a report on Non-delegated Applications 

  

Item 1   22/21074/FUL - Craig Y Nos (Pages 9 - 22) 

 

Item 2   Tree Preservation Order 54 2021 (Pages 23 - 28) 

 

ENC6  Development Management Related Matters for Noting  

 

Item 1   Delegated Decision Report (Pages 29 - 40) 

 

Item 2   Agricultural Notifications (Pages 41 - 42) 

 

Item 3   Fringe Notifications (Pages 43 - 44) 

 

Item 4   Planning Obligation Report (Pages 45 - 46) 

 

Item 5   Planning Appeals Report (Pages 47 - 54) 

 

ENC7  Enforcement Reports  

 

 Access to Information 

  

Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 

Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the 

following item of business on the grounds that there would be disclosure to 

them of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 

4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public interest in maintaining the 

exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

  

Item 1   Enforcement Exemption form (Pages 55 - 56) 

 

Item 2   Enforcement Delegated Decisions Report - Confidential (Pages 57 - 62) 

 



 
 
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Planning Committee 1 26 July 2022 

 

 

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY PLANNING 

COMMITTEE HELD VIRTUALLY BY TEAMS MEETING ON TUESDAY, 26TH JULY, 

2022 
 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Powys 

 

Cllr E Roderick (Deputy Chair), Cllr E Jones, Cllr I McIntosh, Cllr W Powell and Cllr H Williams 

 

Monmouthshire 

 

Cllr S Howarth 

 

Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Cllr J Davies 

 

Blaenau Gwent 

 

Cllr P Baldwin 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taff 

 

Cllr S Emanuel 

 

Members appointed by the Welsh Government 

 

Mr Julian Stedman (Chair) 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  

 

There were no apologies for absence received for this meeting. 

 

2 Chair's Announcements  

 

The Chair advised with regard to the change of name of this committee from Planning, 

Access and Rights of Way to just Planning, he added there will be no change to the format 

of the committee and that the issues for discussion or noting relating to both Access and 

Rights of Way will continue to be brought to the this meeting. 

  

The Chair welcomed Mr Charles Felgate from Geldards to the meeting, adding that he 

was here to offer legal advice on the applications within today’s agenda. 

  

The Chair thanked the officers for their work in the preparation of this agenda. 
  

Page 1

ENC4



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Planning Committee 2 26 July 2022 

 

The Chair advised that Ms Davina Powell has now taken up the role of Head of 

Development Management (DM) with effect 18
th

 July 2022, her former role was as 

Principal Planning Officer (DM). 

  

The Chair advised that all Members should have now received the email regarding the 

new advice from Natural Resources Wales (NRW) regarding advice on phosphorous 

sensitive SAC rivers. 

 

3 Declarations of Interest  

 

It was noted that due to the change of membership following the recent elections this 

meeting is the exception to the rule meaning those members not in attendance at the 

previous meeting can propose, second and vote upon the minutes of the previous 

meeting. 

  

It was also advised that all members in attendance will be considered to have a personal 

and non-prejudicial interest in Encl 6 Item 7 as this is a National Park Authority 

application, should they have a prejudicial interest that will need to be declared separately. 

  

Name Enc Item Nature of Interest 

Cllr W Powell 6 3 Personal and prejudicial 

Cllr W Powell 6 4 Personal and prejudicial 

Mr J Stedman 6 5 Personal and prejudicial 

Cllr W Powell 6 5 Personal and prejudicial 

Mr J Stedman 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr E Roderick 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr E Jones 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr I McIntosh 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr W Powell 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr H Williams 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr P Baldwin 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr J Davies 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr S Howarth 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

Cllr S Emanuel 6 7 Personal and non-prejudicial 

 

4 Minutes of last meeting  

 

The Chair was authorised to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held on 12
th

 April 2022 as a 

correct record. 

 

5 Confirmed minutes LAF 4th Meeting 3rd March 2022  

 

The minutes of the LAF 4
th

 meeting held on 3
rd

 March 2022 were noted. 

 

6 Development Management Reports for Decision  

 

1. 20/18931/FUL – Steel portal frame roofing to form covered 

yard in-between two buildings and provision of rainwater 

Page 2



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Planning Committee 3 26 July 2022 

 

storage tank – Dan Y Bwlch Farmhouse, Gros Lwyd Road, 

Cymyoy, NP7 7NY 

    

  Prior to the presentation Members were advised with regard to the current 

situation of this application, the quashing of the previous granted approval 

by Judicial Review and regarding the issue of an Article 18 Direction 

meaning no formal decision can be processed until it is confirmed that the 

Welsh Government will not call this application in. 

  

The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case 

Officer, Ms Lisa Hughes. 

    

Late info: None 

    

Public 

Speakers: 

Ms Victoria Holt addressed members in objection to the application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

  

Ms Ellie Watkin (Agent) addressed members in support of the 

application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

    

Proposal: The Officer recommendation minded to permit subject to the 

conditions set out in the officer report, with delegated powers to the 

Director of Planning and Place subject to WG not calling this 

application in, was put to Members. 

    

  Proposed: Cllr E Roderick Seconded: Cllr W Powell 

    

Decision: The Officer recommendation minded to permit subject to the 

conditions set out in the officer report, with delegated powers to the 

Director of Planning and Place subject to WG not calling this 

application in, was agreed. 

    

2. 20/18928/FUL – Steel portal frame, standard agricultural 

building to cover the sheep handling system and provision of 

rainwater storage tank – Dan Y Bwlch Farmhouse, Gros 

Lwyd Road, Cymyoy, NP7 7NY 

    

  Prior to the presentation Members were advised with regard to the current 

situation of this application, the quashing of the previous granted approval 

by Judicial Review and regarding the issue of an Article 18 Direction 

meaning no formal decision can be processed until it is confirmed that the 

Welsh Government will not call this application in. 

  

The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case 

Officer, Ms Lisa Hughes. 

    

Page 3



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Planning Committee 4 26 July 2022 

 

Late info: None 

   

Public 

Speakers: 

Mr Laurence Holt addressed members in objection to the application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

  

Ms Ellie Watkin (Agent) addressed members in support of the 

application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

    

Proposal: The Officer recommendation minded to permit subject to the 

conditions set out in the officer report, with delegated powers to the 

Director of Planning and Place subject to WG not calling this 

application in, was put to Members. 

    

  Proposed: Cllr E Roderick Seconded: Cllr P Baldwin 

    

Decision: The Officer recommendation minded to permit subject to the 

conditions set out in the officer report, with delegated powers to the 

Director of Planning and Place subject to WG not calling this 

application in, was agreed. 

    

  The Chair advised that all would take a short comfort break and return at 

11:45, it is noted that Cllr E Jones did not return to the meeting. 

    

3. 21/19623/FUL – (Phase 1) Redevelopment of a former 

highway authority maintenance yard for the purposes of a 

single A1 unit – Former Highways Depot, Hay Road, 

Talgarth, LD3 0AW 

    

  Cllr W Powell declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item and 

removed himself from the virtual meeting. 

  

The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case 

Officer, Mrs Ffion Bevan. 

    

Late info: None. 

    

Public 

Speakers: 

Ms Elaine Starling addressed members in objection to the application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

  

Mr John Williams addressed members (text read by the Committee 

Clerk) in objection to the application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

  

Mr Jason Evans (Agent) addressed members in support of the 

application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

Page 4



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Planning Committee 5 26 July 2022 

 

    

Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was put to Members. 

    

   Proposed: Cllr E Roderick Seconded: Cllr H Willams 

    

Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was agreed. 

    

4. 21/19622/FUL – (Phase 2) Four B1/B8 Units with associated 

Bat Mitigation Outbuilding – Former Highways Depot, Hay 

Road, Talgarth, LD3 0AW 

    

  Cllr W Powell declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item and 

remained away from the virtual meeting. 

  

The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case 

Officer, Mrs Ffion Bevan. 

    

Late info: None. 

    

Public 

Speakers: 

Mr John Williams addressed members (text read by the Committee 

Clerk) in objection to the application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

  

Mr Jason Evans (Agent) addressed members in support of the 

application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

    

Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was put to Members. 

    

  Proposed: Cllr E Roderick Seconded: Cllr H Williams 

    

Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was agreed. 

    

5. 22/20803/CON – To substitute approved drawings in relation 

to the access and external layour of the site – variation of 

condition 2 of planning permission 20/18718/FUL – 

Crickhowell Conservative Club, High Street, Crickhowell, 

NP8 1BW 

    

  Cllr W Powell declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item and 

remained away from the virtual meeting.  Mr J Stedman declared a 

personal and prejudicial interest in this item and removed himself from the 

meeting, the Deputy Chair Cllr E Roderick took the role of Chair for this ti 

Page 5



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Planning Committee 6 26 July 2022 

 

  

The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case 

Officer, Mrs Ffion Bevan. 

    

Late info: None. 

    

Public 

Speakers: 

Mr Paul Evans addressed members in objection to the application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

  

Mr David Williams addressed members in objection to the 

application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

  

Ms Jane Dodds addressed members in objection to the application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

  

Mr Paul Williams (Agent) addressed members in support of the 

application. 

A copy of the text was provided for the record. 

    

Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was put to Members. 

    

  Proposed: Cllr H Williams Seconded: Cllr P Baldwin 

    

Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was agreed. 

    

  The Deputy Chair suggested that due to the time a 30 minute lunch break 

should take place and advices members to return at 14:35.  Mr Stedman 

and Cllr Powell were brought back into the meeting at this point but it is 

noted that Cllr McIntosh and Cllr Davies did not return. 

    

6. 22/20989/FUL – Erection of extension to the Tair Bull to 

accommodate dining area and store cupboard, together 

with external decking area, together with all other 

associated works – The Tai’r Bull, Libanus, Brecon, LD3 8EL 

    

  The Members were provided with presentation by the Case Officer, 

Miss Lisa Williams. 

    

Late info: None. 

    

Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was put to Members. 

    

  Proposed: Cllr W Powell Seconded: Cllr P Baldwin 

Page 6



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Planning Committee 7 26 July 2022 

 

    

Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was agreed. 

    

7. 22/20941/FUL – The construction of five disabled parking 

bays at the National Park Visitor Centre, within easy 

distance of the main building, and erection of a disabled 

changing places pod.  This will utilise part of the existing 

approach road and the excavation of an existing grassed 

bank area.  The construction of a disabled friendly pathway 

to the entrance of the National Park Visitor Centre to run in 

parallel to the disabled parking bays – Brecon Beacons 

Mountain Centre, Libanus, Brecon, LD3 8ER 

    

  The Members were provided with presentation by the Case Officer, 

Miss Lisa Williams. 

    

Late info: None. 

    

Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was put to Members. 

    

  Proposed: Cllr E Roderick Seconded: Cllr W Powell 

    

Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions as 

set out in the officer report, was agreed. 

    

    

8. Tree Preservation Order 52, 2021 – Talgarth Former 

Primary School, School Road, Talgarth, LD3 0BB 

    

  The Members were provided with a presentation by Mrs Helen 

Lucocq. 

    

Late info: None. 

    

Proposal: The Officer recommendation that the Tree Preservation Order TPO 

52, 2021 be confirmed, was put to Members. 

    

  Proposed: Cllr E Roderick Seconded: Cllr H Williams 

    

Decision: The Officer recommendation that the Tree Preservation Order TPO 

52, 2021 be confirmed, was agreed. 

  

7 Development Management Related Matters for Noting  

 
Item 1 Delegation Applications Report 

Page 7



  
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Planning Committee 8 26 July 2022 

 

    
  The report was noted 
    
Item 2 Agricultural Notifications 
    
  The report was noted 
    
Item 3 Fringe Notifications Report 
    
  The report was noted 
    
Item 4 Appeals Report 
    
  The report was noted 
    
Item 5 Planning Obligations Report 
    
  The report was noted 

 

8 Enforcement Reports  

 

Access to Information 

  

Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 

1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the following item of business on the 

grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 

Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public 

interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 

information. 

  

Item 1 Enforcement Delegated Reports 

    

  The contents of the report were noted. 

 

 

 

 

 

Signed as a correct record 

Chairman of the Planning Committee 

 

 

Page 8



Page 1 of 14 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

27 September 2022 

 

 

Application Number: 22/21074/FUL Date Validated: 20 May 2022 

Site Address: Craig-Y-Nos Country Park  

Penycae 

Swansea 

SA9 1GL 

 

Decision Due 

Date: 

28 September 2022 

Applicant:-         Swarco Limited 

Grid Ref: E: 284221  N:215491 

Proposal: 

Installation of 2 x Raption 50 EVCP within Craig-Y-Nos Country Park Car Park. The development 

will involve utilizing 4 existing car park spaces to become 4 EV Charging Bays. the existing spaces will 

be extended into the grass verge, as per site plan to allow for longer vehicles to charge without 

impeding access / egress of the existing car park layout. 

Case Officer: Heather McDowell Community: Tawe Uchaf 

  

Reason(s) Application Reported to Committee: Application site on BBNPA owned land 

 

RECOMMENDATION:   PERMIT subject to condition(s) 

 

  

 

Page 9

ENC5Item 1



Page 2 of 14 

1. Description of Development  

This application seeks full planning permission for the installation of two Raption 50 EVCP 

(Electric vehicle charge point) and an associated feeder pillar and amendments to car parking 

space layout to be located in the south western corner of the car park. 

 

The proposed development includes the following: 

 Two Raption 50 Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP).  These will measure 1.8m in 

height, 0.94m in width and 0.75m in depth.  These points will be finished in black and 

white branding. 

 One feeder pillar to the rear of the western charging point.  This will measure 1.61m in 

height, 1.71m in width and 0.8m in depth.  The finish colour has not been confirmed by 

the applicant however they have suggested black, grey or green.  This is discussed further 

in this report. 

 Amendment to the car parking layout.  The proposals include a modest increase in the 

size of the four parking spaces associated with proposed charging points to 

accommodate long vehicles.  This will increase the length of the spaces by 2m. 

 

Images in the form of plans and photos have been attached to this report as an appendix to 

further illustrate the proposals. 

 

2. Site and Context 

The proposed location is within the grounds of Craig y Nos Country Park, a Grade II Historic 

Park and Garden.  A number of listed buildings, notably the Grade II* Craig y Nos Castle and 

Grade I Listed Theatre, lie to the south of the proposed site.  The application site is currently in 

use as the country park’s public carpark.  It is accessed via the carpark’s existing gateway on to 

the A4067.   

 

3.  Planning History 

 

App Ref Description Decision Date 

15/12868/FUL Change of use of a small outbuilding to 

be used as two commercial units.  One 

unit will be used as a gallery/shop for 

local craft producers.  The second unit 

will be used as a workshop for stain 

glass producer 

Application 

Permitted 

12th Jan 2016 

18/16939/FUL Installation of bronze 3D landscape 

model mounted on stone plinth on the 

existing terrace. 

Application 

Permitted 

12th Feb 2019 

18/16940/ADV Three monolith information points 

introducing Fforest Fawr Geopark, the 

UNESCO global Geopark family. These 

panels aim to engage visitors and 

encourage them to explore the 

surrounding landscape. 

Application 

Permitted 

12th Feb 2019 

18/16974/FUL Installation of 44 solar panels producing 

13.68KW. Installation of electric feeder 

pillar to supply 2 electric vehicle 

charging points in the car park. 

Application 

Permitted 

12th Feb 2019 

 

Page 10



Page 3 of 14 

4.  Relevant Local and National Planning Policy 

 

4.1 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan and 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 

Policy no. Policy 

SP1 National Park Policy 

SP3 Environmental Protection 

1 Appropriate Development in the National Park 

6 Biodiversity and Development 

7 Protected and Important Wild Species 

8 Trees and Development 

9  Ancient Woodland and Veteran Trees 

12 Light Pollution 

17 The Setting of Listed Buildings 

20  Historic Parks and Gardens 

59 Impacts of Traffic 

 
4.2    National Planning Policy and Guidance 

 

Document 
Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (Feb 2021) 

Planning Policy Wales: 11th Edition (2021) 

 

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)  

 

Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007)  

 

Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017) 

 

5.  Summary of Consultation responses 

 

Consultee Comments 

 

Planning Ecologist 

Area 2 

 

A Construction and Environmental Management Plan will be required, to 

include any tree mitigation/protection measures (pending the 

recommendations of the NP Tree Consultant) and detailed pollution 

prevention measures to protect the adjacent watercourse and Restored 

Ancient Woodland site. This may be secured via a condition. 

Biodiversity enhancement proposals are required. 

National Park Tree 

Consultant - Mike 

Higgins 

 

Further information required. 

 

NP Heritage Officer 

Building 

Conservation 

 

Little information seems to have been supplied regarding materials, except 

for a mention of treated ply backboard. I therefore cannot fully assess their 

visual impact on the settings of the various structures or their suitability in 

terms of compliance with Policy SP1 of the LDP. While I am sure little can 

Page 11



Page 4 of 14 

be done to mitigate their design, some consideration could be given to 

mitigating their overall appearance, perhaps through the use of appropriate 

colours schemes, cladding and / or covering the concrete bases or something 

similar? I would welcome further information and perhaps a discussion 

regarding potential mitigation. 

 

The further information now received in relation to the materials and 

appearance would seem to be acceptable from a heritage perspective. 

Western Power 

Distribution South 

Powys 

 

None received  

NP Heritage Officer 

Archaeology 

 

The application site is located within an area of potential archaeological 

sensitivity. However, given the construction of the modern car park, the 

depth of imported material at the site, and the localised character of the 

proposed development, this application is considered unlikely to have any 

archaeological impact. 

Tawe Uchaf 

Community Council 

 

The Council has no comments to make on this application 

 

CADW (planning 

Consultations) 

 

Whilst it will require the permanent erection of two small cabinets these 

will not alter the way in which this part of the registered park and garden is 

experienced, understood and appreciated. Consequently the proposed 

development will have no impact on the registered Craig-y-Nos Castle and 

Country Park historic park and garden. 

Welsh Government 

Transport 

Department 

 

The A4067 is not part of the trunk road network. The Welsh Government 

(Transport) therefore has no objection or further comments to make. 

Powys County 

Council Highways 

 

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Class I Highway, 

A4067 

Does Not Wish to Comment on the Application 

 

Copies of the full consultation responses can be found on our website at:  

https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN 

 

6.  Third Party Representations 

 

Number of objections 0 

Number of representations 0 

Number of supporting contributions 0 

Number of original consultees 3 

Number of contributors 0 

 

Page 12

https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN


Page 5 of 14 

7. Well Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act places a duty on public bodies to carry out 

sustainable development to improve the way in which we achieve the social, economic, 

environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The National Park must act in accordance with 

the sustainable development principle and seek to ensure that the needs of the present are 

met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. As part 

of this duty public bodies must set and publish objectives which are designed to maximise its 

contribution to achieving each of the well-being goals. The 7 goals are: 

- A prosperous Wales 

- A resilient Wales 

- A healthier Wales 

- A more equal Wales 

- A Wales of cohesive communities 

- A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

- A globally responsible Wales 

 

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 (2021) is to ensure that the planning 

system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, 

economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by the Well-being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  

 

The recommendations are made in line with the strategic and individual policies within the 

adopted Local Development Plan. It is considered that the Local Development Plan has been 

prepared to ensure the sustainable development of the National Park, particularly in relation 

to Environmental protection, sustainable distribution of development, housing, economic well-

being, sustainable tourism, sustainable communities, sustainable infrastructure and various 

other considerations.  

 

8. Planning Obligations: 

Not considered necessary for this development. 

 

9. Assessment: 

9.1  Key Gateway Test – Strategic and Spatial Choices: 

 

9.1.1 Good design 

The proposals include the installation of two charging points with an associated cabinet. 
These are of a design typical of facilities such as that proposed and is viewed to be 

acceptable in light of their purpose and context within an existing car park.  
 

9.1.2 Promoting healthier places 
This application concerns the installation of EV charging points which forms part of wider 

efforts to reduce reliance on internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles, thus improving air 

quality and bringing health benefits. 

 
9.1.3 The Welsh Language 

The proposed development is not deemed to present a risk in terms of introducing ‘any 
element of discrimination between individuals on the basis of their linguistic ability’, as set 
out in PPW 3.28. 

 
9.1.4 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources 

Page 13



Page 6 of 14 

The installation of electric vehicle charging points at this site will contribute towards wider 
efforts to reduce reliance on ICE vehicles, and therefore reduce dependence of fossil fuels 

for private transport in rural areas.   
 

9.1.5 Strategic Planning 
The installation of the electric vehicle charging points, as proposed by this application, is 

considered to be an important aspect contributing to the future sustainability of the 

National Park residential communities and visitors.  As recognised by Policy 12 of the 

Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, the roll out of sustainable fuelling infrastructure 

is essential for the adoption of ultra-low emission vehicles, particularly in rural areas 

where connectivity by public transport may be more restricted.  With the move away 

from internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles and the ban on the sale of new ICE cars 

in place from 2030, the installation of charging points such as those proposed by this 

application is supported and considered essential. Whilst this is an existing car park 

serving an existing facility (not a new one), the proposal does contribute to meeting the 

minimum 10% figure of EV charging points which planning authorities should seek within 

car parks associated new non-residential developments (under Future Wales Policy 12).  

 
9.1.6 Placemaking in Rural Areas 

As recognised in PPW Para 3.39, opportunities for reducing car use in rural areas are 
more limited than in urban areas.  The installation of EV charging points such as that 
proposed will contribute to PPW Para 3.38’s key aim of fostering adaptability and resilience 

in rural communities through enabling and supporting the transition from ICE vehicles to 
ultra low emission vehicles. 

 
9.1.7 Managing Settlement Form 

The application site concerned in this application is an established car park.  The proposed 

EV charging points will therefore sit within existing infrastructure and so will not represent 
development that will erode the character of the surrounding countryside, in line with 

PPW Para 3.60. 
 

9.2 Assessing the sustainable benefits of development:           
 

9.2.1 Social considerations 

The proposals will increase accessibility to electric vehicle charging facilities in this rural 
community for both local people and those passing through, and so contribute to wider 

infrastructural development to prepare communities for the transition towards ultra low 
emission vehicles.  The proposals will therefore ensure the continued connectivity 
between small communities within the local area and across the wider National Park and 

Mid Wales. 
 

9.2.2 Economic considerations 
The provision of charging infrastructure at this location will contribute to a wider network 

of charging points across rural areas as described in the Electric Vehicle Strategy for Wales 

(2021), enabling more sustainable movement of visitors and employment and so 

contributing towards economic sustainability. 

 

9.2.3 Cultural considerations 
The provision of infrastructure of this nature will make the purchase of an ultra low 

emission vehicle more viable and practical for local people and, as part of a wider network, 
those travelling throughout rural Mid Wales.  This will contribute towards the 

Page 14



Page 7 of 14 

‘normalising’ of the choice of ULE vehicles over ICE vehicles, facilitating a cultural shift in 
attitudes and improving their public perception. 

 
9.2.4 Environmental considerations 

The proposed EV chargers will be for the use of ULE vehicles, which, by their nature, 

produce significantly less in terms of carbon emissions and other air pollutants when in 

use.  This will lead to benefits in terms of air quality and, alongside Welsh Government’s 

policy of decarbonisation in electricity generation, will contribute towards lowering 

transport carbon emissions. 

 

Detailed Impact Assessment: 
 

9.2.5 Distinctive and natural places 

 
9.2.5.1 Landscape 

The proposed EV charging points and associated works are small in scale and will be 
located within an existing car park.  It is not anticipated that this will harm the character 

of the wider landscape. 
 
9.2.5..2 Historic Environment 

The application site is located within Craig Y Nos Historic Park and Garden and is in the 
vicinity of a number of listed buildings.  Comments received from CADW regarding the 

impact on the historic park and garden designation stated the opinion that the proposals 
will not affect how the gardens are experienced by visitors, and so no objections were 
raised.   

 
Comments received from the NPA’s Heritage Officer (Archaeology) sought additional 

information regarding the potential impact of the proposals on archaeological remnants 
of the historic walled garden.  From the further information supplied, the officer was 
satisfied that it was unlikely that the proposals would have an archaeological impact.   

 
Comments received from NPA’s Heritage Officer (Building Conservation) expressed 

reservations regarding the colour of the proposed infrastructure.  The applicant 
subsequently submitted exemplar photos to illustrate the finish of the charging points 

(black and white with company branding) and suggested colours of the associated feeder 
pillar (black, grey or green).  The Building Conservation Officer was satisfied with the 
details provided and that the proposals would not unacceptably detract from the built 

heritage of the application site and its surroundings.  To ensure acceptability of the colour 
of the feeder pillar in particular, a condition has been included requiring the submission 

of further details for approval prior to the commencement of works. 
 
9.2.5.3 Water Pollution 

Adjacent to the application site is watercourse, which flows into the River Tawe.  Due to 
its proximity and the potential for harm due to pollution of this watercourse by the 

proposed works, comments received from the NPA’s Planning Ecologist requested the 
imposition of a condition requiring the prior approval of a Construction Environment 

Management Plan (CEMP) prior to the commencement of works.  This has therefore been 
included in the determination recommended to members. 
 

9.2.5.4 Air Pollution 

Page 15



Page 8 of 14 

The proposals will widen access to energy for ultra low emission vehicles and facilitate a 
move away from ICE vehicles, reducing air pollution. 

 
9.2.5.5 Light Pollution 

The plans submitted as part of this application do not include details of a lighting scheme.  
Due to the nature of the site, any subsequent proposal to install additional external lighting 
is likely to require planning permission however a planning condition requiring any such 

scheme to be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority has been applied 
to safeguard against the installation of a potentially harmful scheme. 

 
9.2.5.6 Biodiversity 
The comments received from the NPA’s Planning Ecologist stated the opinion that the 

proposals should include the provision of biodiversity enhancements. The proposed 

development however, by its nature, will promote the use ULE vehicles, which will have 

wider benefits in terms of air quality and mitigation of climate change.  It is also small in 

scale.  It is therefore considered that in this case the inclusion of biodiversity 

enhancements would be unnecessary due to the wider benefits of the scheme. 

9.2.5.7 Trees  
Comments received from the NPA’s Consultant Tree Officer stated the opinion that 
insufficient information had been submitted on the part of the applicant regarding the 
nature of nearby trees and hedgerows and requested further information.  The officer’s 

comments appear to have been made on the basis of photographic evidence showing two 
trees which would have been impacted by any works.  A site visit however has confirmed 

that these trees are no longer present and the distance of the works from the remaining 
vegetation is sufficient for the works to proceed without the need of the submission of 

additional information.  To ensure the protection of this vegetation the officer’s requested 
condition requiring the installation of protective fencing has been included in the 
recommendation to members. 

 
9.2.5.8 Flooding 

The application site is not located with a flood risk zone as set out in Technical Advice 
Note 15: Flooding, and it will not contribute to flood risk by way of its nature or scale. 
 

9.2.6 Active and Social Places 
 

As recognised by PPW Para 3.39, scope of reducing the use of private vehicles in rural 
areas is more limited than in urban areas.  The proposals will therefore facilitate the move 

towards reducing the environmental harm associated with ICE vehicles whilst maintaining 
essential transport networks and connectivity across the local area and Mid Wales more 
widely.  No issues have been raised by the Local Highways Authority or the Welsh 

Government Transport Department in relation to the Trunk Road. 
  

9.2.7 Productive and enterprising places 
 
The proposed EV charging points will form part of a wider network of this increasingly 

essential infrastructure across Wales.  In accommodating the movement of people 
between rural communities and across the wider area, the proposals will further facilitate 

economic development through providing access to work and business opportunities.  
This will also promote resilience in the rural economy.  An expanded network of charging 

Page 16



Page 9 of 14 

points will also make the National Park more accessible to visitors choosing to travel by 
ULE vehicles.  

 
10. Conclusion 

This application has been considered against the adopted policies of the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2013) and Future Wales: The National 

Plan 2040 (2021). In making a recommendation National Policies within Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 11, 2021) and Policies SP1, SP3, 1, 6, 7, 8, 12, 17, 20, and 59 of the Local 

Development Plan, the comments made by the consultees and other interested parties 
have been taken into consideration. The proposal is considered to comply with the above 
policies. 

 
 National Park Purpose and Duty. 

 
Propose 1:  To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area. 

The proposals will contribute to wider efforts to reduce carbon and air pollutant emissions 
within the park, which will have benefits for the enhancement of the park’s natural beauty and 

wildlife. 
 

Duty: To seek to foster the social and economic wellbeing of the local communities within the National 
Park in pursuit of our purposes. 
The provision of EV charging points will promote the resilience of local communities through 

moving away from dependence on fossil fuels for transport and will provide the infrastructure 
essential for the transition towards ultra low emissions vehicles. 

 
 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources. 

The proposals will facilitate the transition away from ICE and dependence on fossil fuels for 

private transport, and therefore lead to more sustainable use of natural resources in this 
regard. 

 
 Sustainable Development. 

It is the opinion of this officer that, along with the installation of similar schemes across Wales 
and rural areas in particular, the proposal will contribute towards meeting sustainable 
development goals both in terms of local impact and more widely.  This is principally in terms 

of environmental impact, but also in terms of social and economic sustainability benefits.   
 

         Options: Implications for sustainable development if: 

 Refusal 
Refusal would result in a lack of suitable facilities enabling the transition away from ICE vehicles 
towards ULE vehicles, impacting both local people and visitors to the area.  Efforts to reduce 

dependence on fossil fuels for transportation would be hampered, and would impact progress 
towards environmental, social, economic and cultural sustainability goals and would harm the 
long term resilience of rural communities. 

 
 Permitted 

As outlined in this report, permitting the installation of electric vehicle infrastructure as 
proposed would lead to environmental, cultural, economic and social benefits, and would 

Page 17



Page 10 of 14 

contribute to wider efforts to increase the resilience of the local rural community and those 
to which it connects more widely across the National Park and Mid Wales. 

 
11. Recommendation: Permit 

 

Conditions and/or Reasons: 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 

2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out strictly in accordance with 

the approved plans (drawings entitled ‘Location Plan’ received 18th May 2022 and 

Craig Y Nos: Proposed Site Charging Layout’ received 5th July 2022 and detailed in 

email received 7th September 2022) and the schedule of materials indicated thereon, 

except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this permission. 

3 Prior to the commencement of any development works in association with the 

development hereby approved, a Construction and Environmental Management Plan 

(CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The CEMP shall include full details of all necessary pollution prevention measures as 

well as details regarding the storage of plant, machinery, materials and waste during 

the implementation of the development. The development shall then be implemented 

strictly in accordance with the approved CEMP. 

 4  All retained trees, and hedges and/or any trees whose canopies overhang the site 

shall be protected by strong fencing in accordance with BS5837: 2012 Trees in 

relation to design, demolition and construction – Recommendations for the 

duration of the development’s construction. The fencing shall be erected before any 

equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of the 

development, and shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus 

materials have been removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed within 

any fenced area, and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor 

shall any excavation be made, without the prior written consent of the local planning 

authority. 

5 Prior to installation, a colour scheme detailing the colour and finish of the GRP Feeder 

Pillar shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details. 

6 No external lighting shall be installed until an external lighting plan is submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall avoid 

conflict with wildlife corridors and biodiversity enhancement measures and shall be 

implemented as approved. 

 

Reasons: 

 

1 Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 2 To ensure adherence to the approved plans and to protect the general character and 

amenities of the area. 

 3 To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 5 

and Policies SP3, 1, 4, 6 and 7 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP. 

 To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation 

of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) 

Act 2016. 

Page 18



Page 11 of 14 

 4 In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the visual 

amenity of the area, to maintain the special qualities of the landscape and habitats 

through the protection, creation and enhancement of links between sites and their 

protection for amenity, landscape and biodiversity value. Local Development Plan: 

Strategic Policy 1 (National Park Policy) Strategic Policy 3 (Environmental Protection) 

Strategic Policy 10 (Sustainable Distribution of Development) Policies 8 (Trees and 

Development) 9 (Ancient Woodland and veteran trees), Technical Advice Note 

(TAN) 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009), Technical Advice Note (TAN) 

10: Tree Preservation Orders (1997) 

 5 To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development. 

 6  To comply with Planning Policy Wales (2021), Technical Advice Note 5 and Policies 

SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the Brecon 

Beacons National Park (2013). To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 

(as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 

amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

 

Informative Notes: 

 

Biodiversity/Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1. All nesting birds, their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence to:  

 intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird 

 intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or being built  

 intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird 

 intentionally (or recklessly) disturb any wild bird listed on Schedule1 while it is nest building, 

or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such a bird.  The 

maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg - is a fine of 

up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both.  

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building where that work involves 

the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird while the nest is in use or being 

built, (usually between late February and late August). If a nest is discovered while work is being 

undertaken, all work must stop and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales. 

2. Work should halt immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) contacted for advice in the 

event that protected species are discovered during the course of the development.  To proceed 

without seeking the advice of NRW may result in an offence under the Conservation of Habitats 

and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and/or the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 

amended) being committed. NRW can be contacted at: 

NRW, Cantref Court, Brecon Road, Abergavenny, NP7 7AX Tel: 0300 065 3000 

  

Page 19



Page 12 of 14 

Appendix: Illustrative Materials 
 

1. Drawing: Proposed Site Layout Plan (Extract) 

 

 
 

P
age 20



Page 13 of 14 

 

2. Photo: Proposed Location of EV Charging Points 

 

 

P
age 21



Page 14 of 14 

 

3. Photo: Proposed Finish of Electric Vehicle Charging Point 

 

P
age 22



 
 

 
BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 

 
TREE PRESERVATION ORDER  

 
 

Reference: TPO 54, 2021 
 

Committee Report 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES 

 Strategic Policy 1: “National Park Policy” (Local Development Plan 2013) 

 Strategic Policy 3: “Environmental Protection” (Local Development Plan 2013) 

 Strategic Policy 10: “Sustainable Distribution of Development” (Local Development Plan 2013) 

 Policy 8: “Trees and Development” (Local Development Plan 2013) 

 Policy 9: “Ancient Woodland and veteran trees” (Local Development Plan 2013) 

 Policy 19: “Development affecting Conservation Areas” (Local Development Plan 2013) 

 TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

 TAN 10: “Tree Preservation Orders” (1997)  
 
 

ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS  

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990  

 Town and Country Planning (Trees) Regulations 1999  

 Town and Country Planning (Trees) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2012  

 Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012  

 Town and Country Planning (Trees) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2017  

 Section 6.4.25 of Planning Policy Wales – Edition 11 (February 2021) 
 

‘Planning authorities should protect trees, hedgerows, groups of trees and areas of woodland where 
they have ecological value, contribute to the character or amenity of a particular locality, or perform 
a beneficial and identified green infrastructure function.’ 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
N/A 
 
Tree Preservation Order History: 

 A conservation area notification was received by this authority (validated on 1st September 2021) 
notifying the authority of the intent to remove the ash tree.  

 The purpose of the requirement to give this Authority 6 weeks' notice is to allow the Authority to 
consider making a TPO in respect of the tree concerned.  

 A Conservation Area Notification / Section 211 notice is not, and should not be treated as, an 
application for consent.   

Page 23

ENC5Item 2



 As such, Local Planning Authorities can only deal with Conservation Area notification/Section 
211 notice in one of three ways, namely:   

 Make a TPO if justified in the interests of amenity. The proposal would then have to be the 
subject of a formal application under the TPO. 

 Decide not to make a TPO and allow the six-week period to expire, at which point the 
proposed work may go ahead as long as it is carried out within two years from the date of the 
notice  

 Decide not to make a TPO and inform the applicant that the work can go ahead.   

 This authority cannot refuse consent, nor can this Authority grant consent subject to conditions 
(such as a condition requiring the planting of a replacement tree).   

 The only option where a tree is identified as being worthy of retention is to place a TPO on it.  

 Once implemented the TPO has a six-month confirmation period; which enables people to voice 
their objections and support, as well as taking other issues into account.   

 In order to assess the tree in terms of a Tree Preservation Order, a site visit was carried out by 
National Park staff on 16th September 2021 to assess the tree using a standardised method of 
assessment – TEMPO (Tree Evaluation method for Preservation Orders). 

 Following the site visit and TEMPO assessment (below) it was determined that the loss of the 
tree would be harmful to the character and appearance of the area and that the tree was worthy 
of protection.  

 Accordingly, a Tree Preservation Order was recommended and was provisionally implemented 
on the 7th October 2021 as this Authority considered that the tree makes a significant contribution 
to the character of the area. 

 
TPO 54, 2021 Consultations received by this authority: 

 1 no. objections received from:  
 Owner  

 
Key points of Objections to TPO: 
1. Tree surgeon is of the opinion that it is only a matter of time until tree becomes infected by Ash 

dieback.   
2. Difficult to manage if tree becomes diseased and structurally compromised - unsuitable location 
3. Proximity to house and garden 
4. Shades neighbours’ solar panels.  
 
Comments on objections raised: 
In respect of Issue 1. Ash dieback infection  

 It is not possible to state that any tree is safe, as it is a living thing, and typically we are unable to 
see what is happening within the tree above ground, and we are unable to see what is happening 
below ground.  

 However, it is essential that we as a society take an approach to tree safety management that is 
proportionate to the actual risks from trees, the National Tree Safety Group identifies that:  
 Trees provide a wide variety of benefits to society 
 Trees are living organisms that naturally lose branches or fall 
 The overall risk to human safety is extremely low 
 Tree owners have a legal duty of care 
 Tree owners should take a balanced and proportionate approach to tree safety management. 

 As such, where a tree of this value is proposed for works that would be detrimental to the character 
of the area, it is essential that the works are justified and understood as absolutely necessary 
before being carried out. It is also important that alternatives are considered.   

 At the time of the survey by this authority, the tree appeared healthy with a crown typical of an 
uninfected ash tree. The objection also noted that the tree surgeon was of the opinion that the 
tree appeared healthy when surveyed.   

 It is accepted that Ash dieback is having a detrimental impact on the tree stock of ash within 
Wales; however, it is also the case tat some trees will show resilience o the infection.  

Page 24

https://ntsgroup.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/FCMS024.pdf


 As such, it is essential that only trees that are definitively identified as having ash dieback are 
removed, so that healthy (and possibly resilient) trees are not removed unnecessarily in a way 
that will impact on the ability to retain resistant trees, as well as using them in the future to 
repopulate the landscape through processes such as seed collection.  

 Therefore, at this time there is insufficient information to suggest that this tree is infected.  

 It should be clarified that the duty on owners is not to take every possible step to achieve perfect 
safety as this would inevitably lead to almost every tree being felled1.  

 
In respect of Issue 2. Difficult to manage if tree becomes diseased and structurally compromised.  

 It is accepted that the structural integrity of ash trees does become compromised once advanced 
infection of Hymenoscyphus fraxineus occurs.  

 The rate of infection can be relatively quick – 1-2 seasons; however, there are signs that the tree 
has been infected such as loss of foliage, epicormic growth occurring on inner branches and stem.  

 At this time these symptoms are not present, and so it is not considered as being infected at this 
time. If these symptoms occur, then the tree can be reassessed.    

 The TPO regulations and legislation states that The LPA's consent is not required for cutting down 
or carrying out work on trees which are dead or dying or have become dangerous, as such, if the 
tree begins to show sign of infection, then the authority can be contacted by the agent or owner, 
and a site meeting will be carried out to look at the tree. If the tree is confirmed by this authority 
as having ash dieback, the tree can be managed accordingly in order to make safe.  

 As such, the lack of infection supports the implementation o fa TPO, but at the same time, the 
TPO will not prevent necessary works in terms of Health and Safety that would make the TPO 
unsuitable.  

 
In respect of Issue 3. Proximity to buildings and gardens  

 The objection refers to distances from houses and garden use, 

 The tree is located in a terraced (stepped) rear garden of a row of terraced (adjoined) houses, in 
theoretical falling distance of the adjacent houses and gardens.  

 The tree has remained structurally stable and without root and ground disturbance during recent 
storms, and the tree is showing no clear signs of immediate risk to adjacent buildings and 
structures.  

 At this time there has been insufficient information provided to ascertain whether the tree is 
structurally compromised and as such there is no justification in the tree’s removal at this time.   

 
In respect of Issue 4. Shades neighbour’s Solar Panels.   

 This issue was raised previously during the TRCA notification, and to confirm this issue the 
neighbours were consulted in order that they could provide definitive information on how the tree 
is impacting on the efficiency of the solar panels, however, no response was received from the 
neighbour, and so it was not considered as a material consideration.   

 Ash trees typically com into leaf later in the year, and lose their leaves earlier in the year, they 
also tend to have a more open crown, which lets more light through than other deciduous 
broadleaved trees (oak, horse chestnut, lime, sycamore etc).  

 The right to light is an easement* (limited right to make use of another’s property) and will need 
to relate to a specific window rather than a general area such as a house and/or garden.  

 This issue is not the responsibility of the Planning authority it is an issue between neighbours. 

 This authority does support sustainability and renewable energy and as such, if the efficiency of 
the solar panels is impacted by the shading of the tree, it may be reasonable to carry out 
pruning works to the tree that improves light and shade. BS3998:2010 recommends crown 
thinning, crown reduction and crown lifting as method of managing light and shade. A suitable 
management of pruning could be applied for under the TPO that could improve light and shade 
whilst retaining the tree.  

For information – it is the understanding of this officer that the right to light must actually be created; 
its existence can not be assumed. Therefore, it must be shown either by a specific grant or arise as 

                                                 
1 http://ancienttreeforum.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Veteran-Trees-A-Guide-to-Risk-and-Responsibility.pdf  Page 25

http://ancienttreeforum.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Veteran-Trees-A-Guide-to-Risk-and-Responsibility.pdf


a result of prescription (for example proof of uninterrupted light to the specific window for 20 years). 
If this easement can be proven, then this issue could be taken into account when applying for 
approved works to the tree, however, it is unlikely to relate to solar panels. 
 
 
 
TPO assessment: 

 Although the visual aesthetics of a tree can be subjective, the objective guidelines for 
implementing a Tree Preservation Order are all sufficiently met by the TPO in question, taking 
into account the following criteria: 

   
Visibility  

 The tree is located in a rear garden immediately adjacent to a public road to the west and a public 
route (Hawthorn Lane) to the east.  

 The tree is a prominent feature in the area due to the size and the topography of the site – the 
gardens are relatively steep/terraced and as such although the properties are predominantly 
terraced, the tree is clearly visible above the roofs.   

 The tree can be viewed in an approximate arc of 270o from the public routes to the West and 
East.  

 The tree is also near to the edge of the conservation area and provides character and appearance 
as you enter and leave Brecon conservation area. 

 
Individual impact 

 The tree is a prominent specimen that contributes to the character an appearance of the 
immediate area.  

 
Wider impact  

 The tree is a large prominent specimen, and at the time of the assessment was not showing signs 
of ash dieback, which has had a significant impact on the treescape of the National Park and the 
wider context of Wales.   

 The retention of ash trees that are not showing signs of ash dieback are paramount as a way of 
retaining the visual feature of ash in our landscape.  

 
Recommendation: 

 That Tree Preservation Order 54, 2021 be confirmed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



Images  As viewed from public road (The Struet)  

 
 
As viewed from public path off Hawthorn Lane to East 

      

Page 27



Annex 1 – TEMPO assessment – 16th September 2021 
 
Condition – Fair (TEMPO Score: 3) 

 The tree is a large, multi-stemmed specimen with 3-4 stems with reasonably tight unions, but no 
obvious signs of structural weakness. 

 It is an open grown specimen growing within a rear town garden 

 The tree is an ash with no signs of Ash dieback (ADB) on the tree, although the adjacent 
woodland is showing signs of ADB.  

 The tree is showing good key production 
NOTE: For trees in good or fair condition that have poor form deduct one point. 
 
Retention Span – 20-40 years Just suitable (TEMPO Score: 2) 

 Higher risk of ADB but no signs at this time – no downgrading of the tree for this reason 

 Tree is a large specimen in a reasonably small plot 

 TRCA notification referred to solar panel interference next door – Pear and apple tree in garden 
also provide shade to solar panels 

 Removal of Ash will not necessarily alleviate shading of solar panels 

 Rear boundary sycamores also shading area.   
 
Relative public visibility – Large tree clearly visible to public (TEMPO Score: 4) 

 The tree has an arc of visibility of 270o from the public route to the east, and the public road to 
the west.   

 The tree contributes to the character and appearance to the conservation area as you enter and 
leave along The Struet. 

Explanatory interpretation  
5 = Prominent large tree (>270o visual arc) (i.e. between two parallel public routes) 
4 = Tree with 180o-270o visual arc (i.e. next to road with footpath perpendicular to tree) 
3 = Tree with 90-180o visual arc (i.e. next to road) 
2 = Tree with less than 90o visual arc (i.e. only visible between structures) 
1 = Not visible (no view from public area) 
 
Sub-total: 9 (Must have accrued 7 or more points with no zeros to qualify) 
 
Other factors: Tree has no additional redeeming features  (TEMPO Score: 1) 
 
Sub-total: 10 (Must have accrued 10 or more points) 
 
Expediency assessment: immediate risk (5 points) 

 The authority received a conservation area notification to fell the tree  
 
Total – 15 points – TPO Defensible 

Page 28



 

  

 

APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS 

Details are available on our website at Planning application search on-line  

 

App No. Grid Ref. Community Address   Decision Date Issued 

 

20/18328/REM N: 214132  

E: 326657 

Llanfoist Fawr Land Adjacent To Holly 

Cottage, Mill Lane, 

Govilon, Sir Fynwy,  

NP7 9SA  

Withdraw 

 

 

 

1 August 2022 

 

20/19284/FUL N: 228502  

E: 304432 

Brecon The Old Surgery (Fire 

And Stove Shop) , St 

Marys Street, Brecon, 

LD3 7AA 

Permit 

 

9 September 

2022 

 

20/19422/FUL N: 228945  

E: 302013 

Yscir Fennifach Farm , Fenni-

Fach Road, Fennifach, 

Brecon, LD3 9PH 

Permit 

 

 

 

12 July 2022 

 

21/19683/FUL N: 218979  

E: 332566 

Crucorney Llwyn Franc Farm, 

Llanvihangel Crucorney, 

Abergavnny, 

Monmouthshire,  

NP7 8EN 

Refuse 

 

15 August 2022 

Reason/s for refusal:- 

Insufficient information has been provided to fully demonstrate that the proposed development is fully compliant with Policy 38 of 

the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2013). The application site lies within the catchment area 

for the River Usk, which is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 (as amended) for the species it supports; new development within the SAC catchment area must demonstrate 

phosphate neutrality or betterment in its design and/or its contribution to the water body. The proposed development will 

increase the volume of foul drainage from the site and insufficient information has been submitted regarding a suitable foul 

drainage system to deal with the phosphate implications (including mitigation) of the proposed development. Likely Significant 

Effects on the SAC cannot be ruled out and the proposal fails to accord with Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development 

Plan (adopted 2013) Policy 57: Water and Sewerage Supply for New Development and Policy 10: Water Quality of the Brecon 

Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013). This is contrary to The Conservation of Species and Habitats 

Regulations 2017 (as amended); the Environment Act 1995 (National Park duty), The Environment (Wales) Act 2016, Policies 1, 

3, 4 and 10 of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan; and the national planning policy and guidance set out in 

Planning Policy Wales, section 6 and Technical Advice Note 5. The application fails to demonstrate compliance with policies SP3, 

6, and 7 of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan (2013) and Section 6 of the Environment 

(Wales) Act 2016 along with TAN 5 due to the lack of information submitted in relation to biodiversity enhancement features. 

 

21/19886/FUL N: 224125  

E: 313649 

Llangors Trebinshwn House , 

Llangasty , Brecon,  

LD3 7PX 

 

Withdraw 

 

 

 

12 July 2022 

 

21/19912/FUL N: 222232  

E: 314638 

Cwmdu Ketheden , Bwlch, Brecon, 

LD3 7HX 

 

Permit 

 

 

12 July 2022 

 

21/20077/FUL N: 229616  

E: 277249 

Myddfai Ty Newydd , Myddfai, 

Llandovery, SA20 0JG  

 

Permit 

 

 

26 August 2022 

 

Page 29

ENC6Item 1

https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN


 

  

 

21/20186/FUL N: 229616  

E: 277249 

Myddfai Ty Newydd , Myddfai, 

Llandovery, SA20 0JG 

 

Permit 

 

 

23 August 2022 

 

21/20296/LBC N: 242044  

E: 322551 

Hay-on-Wye 1 Union Mews , Gipsy 

Castle Lane, Hay-On-

Wye, Hereford, HR3 5EB 

 

Refuse 

 

 

25 July 2022 

Reason/s for refusal:- 

Insufficient information has been submitted on the proposed new windows and the associated Heritage Impact Statement to 

adequately assess whether there is significant harm to the special historic or architectural character of the Grade II Listed Building 

known as 1 Union Mews or to understand whether the proposal would maintain the quality and character of the National Park's 

built environment. In the absence of such information and/or evidence the proposed development as it stands is contrary 

to Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policies 1 and 15 as well as Section 10 of the Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  
 

 

21/20386/FUL N: 223354  

E: 274165 

Llanddeusant Henbont, Llanddeusant, 

Llangadog, 

Carmarthenshire,  

SA19 9TG 

Permit 

 

26 August 2022 

 

21/20437/DISCON N: 220455  

E: 326417 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Croesfach, Llanbedr, 

Crickhowell, Powys,  

NP8 1SU 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

15 July 2022 

 

21/20537/DISCON N: 230317  

E: 326504 

Crucorney Penworlod , Llanthony, 

Abergavenny, NP7 7NW  

 

Withdraw 

 

 

3 August 2022 

 

21/20545/FUL N: 228517  

E: 291904 

Maescar 2 Almora Villas, 

Sennybridge, Brecon, 

Powys, LD3 8PR 

 

Withdraw 

 

 

 

17 August 2022 

 

21/20561/LBC N: 213021  

E: 322588 

Llanelly Oak House , Main Road, 

Clydach, NP7 0LL 

 

Permit 

 

 

3 August 2022 

 

21/20589/FUL N: 214213  

E: 273384 

Quarter Bach Efail Fach , Cwmgarw 

Road, Rhosamman, 

Ammanford, SA18 1DL 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

17 August 2022 

 

21/20606/FUL N: 227179  

E: 325681 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Ty Bach, Grwyne Fawr, 

Forest Coal Pit, NP7 7LY 

 

Permit 

 

 

12 July 2022 

 

21/20656/CON N: 230756  

E: 325972 

Crucorney Ty Canol , Llanthony 

Wood To Capel Y Ffin, 

Llanthony, Abergavenny, 

NP7 7NW 

 

Withdraw 

 

 

 

 

3 August 2022 

 

Page 30



 

  

 

21/20658/FUL N: 238089  

E: 323227 

Llanigon Old House , Llanigon, 

Hereford, HR3 5RH 

 

Permit 

 

18 August 2022 

 

21/20659/LBC N: 238069  

E: 323228 

Llanigon Old House, Llanigon, 

Hereford, Powys,  

HR3 5RH 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

18 August 2022 

 

22/20696/FUL N: 212944  

E: 322996 

Llanelly Cambrian Inn , Lower 

Station Road, Clydach, 

NP7 0LY 

Permit 

 

 

 

19 July 2022 

 

22/20699/CPL N: 215836  

E: 324995 

Llanelly Duffryn Mawr , Lower 

Common, Gilwern,  

NP7 0EE 

Withdraw 2 August 2022 

 

      

 

22/20747/OUT N: 222133  

E: 315430 

Cwmdu Building Plot , Springbank 

Close, Bwlch, Powys,  

LD3 7SJ 

Refuse 

 

 

28 July 2022 

Reason/s for refusal:- 

The application site lies within the catchment area for the River Usk, which is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) for the species it supports; new development 

within the SAC catchment area must demonstrate phosphate neutrality or betterment in its design and/or its contribution to the 

water body. The proposed development will increase the volume of foul drainage from the site and is considered will result in an 

unacceptable impact on water quality and the designated features of the SAC as a result of the increase in phosphates in the 

watercourse. Insufficient information has been submitted regarding the phosphate implications (including mitigation) of the 

proposed development. Likely Significant Effects on the SAC cannot be ruled out and the proposal fails to accord with Brecon 

Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) Policy 57: Water and Sewerage Supply for New Development 

and Policy 10: Water Quality of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013). This is contrary to 

The Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended); the Environment Act 1995 (National Park duty), The 

Environment (Wales) Act 2016, Policies 1, 3, 4 and 10 of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan; and the 

national planning policy and guidance set out in Planning Policy Wales, section 6 and Technical Advice Note 5. 

      

 

22/20793/FUL N: 228256  

E: 304725 

Brecon 13 Conway Street, 

Brecon, Powys,  

LD3 7EU 

Permit 

 

 

28 July 2022 

 

22/20796/DISCON N: 223500  

E: 311536 

Talybont-on-

Usk 

Gilestone Farm , 

Talybont-On-Usk, Brecon, 

LD3 7JE 

Permit 

 

 

 

 

23 August 2022 

22/20877/FUL N: 228874  

E: 292418 

Maescar Station Yard , The Old 

Ticket Office Sennybridge, 

Brecon, LD3 8RR 

 

Permit 

 

27 July 2022 

 

22/20901/FUL N: 219942  

E: 315230 

Llangynidr Brigadoon , Forge Road, 

Llangynidr, Crickhowell, 

NP8 1LU 

Permit 

 

 

18 August 2022 

Page 31



 

  

 

 

 

22/20903/FUL N: 207811  

E: 290340 

Ystradfellte Bryn Rhedyn , Pont Nedd 

Fechan, Neath, SA11 5UG 

 

Permit 

 

 

11 August 2022 

 

22/20906/FUL N: 228108  

E: 305436 

Brecon 3 Cwrt Y Camden, 

Brecon, LD3 7RR 

 

Permit 

 

 

11 July 2022 

 

22/20908/FUL N: 228189  

E: 304991 

Brecon The Barracks , Watton, 

Brecon, LD3 7EA 

 

Permit 

 

 

21 July 2022 

 

22/20916/FUL N: 214481  

E: 324121 

Llanelly 24 Orchard Close, 

Gilwern, Monmouthshire, 

NP7 0EN 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

4 August 2022 

 

22/20918/FUL N: 222228  

E: 314664 

Cwmdu 1 Allies Court , Bwlch, 

Brecon, LD3 7HX 

 

Permit 

 

 

15 July 2022 

 

22/20925/CPE N: 221548  

E: 263192 

Dyffryn Cennen Tregyb Mill, Bethlehem 

Road, Llandeilo, 

Carmarthenshire,  

SA19 6SY 

Refuse 

 

 

9 September 

2022 

Reason/s for refusal:- 

Insufficient documentary evidence has been provided to demonstrate, on the balance of probabilities that the land has been 

continuously used as a separate residential unit for the requisite period and has therefore not become lawful.   

 

22/20928/FUL N: 221331  

E: 329944 

Crucorney Cwm Coed Y Cerrig 

Farm , Cwm Road, 

Cwmyoy, NP7 7NA 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

8 July 2022 

 

22/20929/FUL N: 217552  

E: 321201 

Llangattock 19 Beaufort Avenue, 

Llangattock, Crickhowell, 

NP8 1PN 

Permit 

 

 

 

7 September 

2022 

 

22/20943/LBC N: 228722  

E: 304503 

Brecon 2 George Street, Brecon, 

LD3 7LD 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

22 July 2022 

22/20953/FUL N: 229443  

E: 304682 

Brecon 44 Beech Grove, Brecon, 

LD3 9EY 

 

Permit 

 

 

27 July 2022 

 

22/20954/FUL N: 224619  

E: 299858 

Glyn Tarell Twynneuadd Farm, 

Libanus, Brecon,  

LD3 8NE 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

22 July 2022 

22/20966/FUL N: 228555  

E: 304837 

Brecon 4 Camden Road, Brecon, 

LD3 7BU 

Permit 

 

9 September 

2022 

Page 32



 

  

 

  

 

22/20973/FUL N: 223331  

E: 271505 

Llangadog Lletty , Llangadog, 

Carmarthenshire,  

SA19 9PS 

Permit 11 July 2022 

 

22/20983/FUL N: 222555  

E: 264103 

Dyffryn Cennen Maesgwyn , Gwynfe Road, 

Ffairfach, Llandeilo,  

SA19 6UY 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

8 July 2022 

 

22/20985/FUL N: 222137  

E: 315651 

Cwmdu Little Inchiquin , Tregraig 

Road, Bwlch, Brecon,  

LD3 7SJ 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

15 July 2022 

 

22/20987/FUL N: 229471  

E: 317395 

Talgarth Heol Llygoden , 

Pengenffordd, Talgarth, 

Brecon, LD3 0EP 

Permit 

 

 

7 September 

2022 

 

     

22/20991/DISCON N: 211507  

E: 287362 

Ystradfellte Cefnwaunynog Farm, 

Coelbren, Neath, Powys, 

SA10 9NB 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

1 August 2022 

 

22/21001/CON N: 222570  

E: 327270 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Tyrywen , Forest Coal Pit, 

Abergavenny, Powys,  

NP7 7LP 

Permit 

 

 

19 August 2022 

 

22/21002/CON N: 222570  

E: 327270 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Tyrywen, Forest Coal Pit, 

Abergavenny, Powys,  

NP7 7LP 

Permit 

 

 

 

19 August 2022 

22/21003/DISCON N: 228244  

E: 301183 

Glyn Tarell Old Vicarage, Penpont, 

Brecon, Powys, LD3 8PB 

Permit 

 

 

15 July 2022 

22/21004/DISCON N: 228244  

E: 301183 

Glyn Tarell Old Vicarage, Penpont, 

Brecon, Powys, LD3 8PB 

 

Permit 

 

 

15 July 2022 

22/21009/FUL N: 238915  

E: 324741 

Llanigon Wernddu , Hay On Wye, 

Hereford, HR3 5RL 

Permit 15 July 2022 

 

22/21016/FUL N: 220129  

E: 315024 

Llangynidr Field House, Coed-Yr-

Ynys Road, Llangynidr, 

Crickhowell, Powys,  

NP8 1NA 

Permit 

 

 

 

2 August 2022 

 

22/21026/CPL N: 228727  

E: 304755 

Brecon 4 Belle Vue Gardens, 

Brecon, LD3 7NY 

 

Permit 

 

11 July 2022 

22/21030/FUL N: 224266  

E: 273367 

Llanddeusant Gilfach Yr Allt , 

Llanddeusant, Llangadog, 

SA19 9ST 

Permit 

 

 

1 August 2022 

 

Page 33



 

  

 

22/21032/FUL N: 227694  

E: 313323 

Llangors Youth And Community 

Centre , Llangors, Brecon, 

Powys, LD3 7TR 

Permit 11 July 2022 

 

22/21035/FUL N: 218422  

E: 324131 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Pendarren House 

Outdoor Education 

Centre , Crickhowell, 

Powys, NP8 1HE 

Permit 

 

 

 

8 August 2022 

 

22/21047/FUL N: 214606  

E: 325148 

Llanelly Bemfica , 10 Usk Drive, 

Gilwern, NP7 0AG 

 

Permit 

 

 

27 July 2022 

 

22/21050/DISCON N: 219858  

E: 323687 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Moor Park , Llanbedr, 

Crickhowell, NP8 1SS 

Permit 

 

 

6 September 

2022 

 

22/21051/CPL N: 227808  

E: 303059 

Brecon Unit 24 , Ffrwdgrech 

Industrial Estate, Brecon, 

LD3 8LA 

 

Refuse 

 

 

 

19 August 2022 

Reason/s for refusal:- 

The proposal has been determined in accordance with Section 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

Insufficient information has been received to determine the proposal would benefit from deemed planning permission by virtue of 

Part 43, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) 

 

 

22/21053/LBC N: 218409  

E: 321781 

Crickhowell The Corn Exchange, Shop 

2 , 54 High Street, 

Crickhowell, Powys,  

NP8 1BH 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

9 August 2022 

 

22/21055/ADV N: 218409  

E: 321781 

Crickhowell The Corn Exchange, Shop 

2 , 54 High Street, 

Crickhowell, NP8 1BH 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

9 August 2022 

 

22/21056/FUL N: 222031  

E: 314864 

Cwmdu Eirinn , Bwlch, Brecon, 

LD3 7HX 

Permit 21 July 2022 

 

      

 

22/21066/FUL N: 226428  

E: 304218 

Glyn Tarell 5 Cefn Cantref , Cantref, 

Brecon, LD3 8LT 

 

Permit 

 

 

19 July 2022 

 

22/21068/FUL N: 218875  

E: 322020 

Crickhowell 37 Llanbedr Road, 

Crickhowell, Powys,  

NP8 1BT 

Permit 

 

10 August 2022 

 

 

22/21078/FUL N: 231975  

E: 316179 

Talgarth Lower Genffordd , 

Talgarth, Powys, 

 LD3 0EG  

Permit 

 

 

24 August 2022 

Page 34



 

  

 

  

 

22/21080/DISCON N: 233879  

E: 315453 

Talgarth The Surgery, Cottage 

Lane, Talgarth, LD3 0AE 

 

Refuse 

 

 

22 July 2022 

Reason/s for refusal:- 

Under The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the requirement for assessment continues until such point as 

the relevant authority has made the ‘implementing decision’ and given the strong protection given to the environment, in 

conjunction with the requirement to apply the precautionary principle, the Habitats Regulations continue to apply to applications 

for discharge of at least negatively worded planning conditions, whether or not they relate specifically to ‘phosphates’. 

This leaves us in a position where, until we can be certain the development will not have an adverse impact on the SAC, we will 

be unable to discharge condition 14. While we cannot formally discharge the condition and development works to the houses 

may not commence, Highways are satisfied with the method of sealing the access as submitted on drwg JTL 01, and the works for 

sealing the vehicular access may go ahead without further recourse to the Authority.  

 

 

22/21084/DISCON N: 236618  

E: 318556 

Gwernyfed Rosedale , Felindre, 

Brecon, LD3 0SY  

 

Permit 

 

 

7 September 

2022 

 

22/21086/DISCON N: 217409  

E: 285294 

Llywel Airwave Mast  , Land At 

Caebont, Blaentwyni 

Road, Glyntawe, SA9 1GS 

Permit 

 

 

 

26 August 2022 

 

22/21088/MINOR N: 220170  

E: 328839 

Crucorney Maes Bach , Fforest 

Coalpit, Abergavenny, 

Monmouthshire,  

NP7 7LH 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

 

12 July 2022 

 

22/21090/FUL N: 228186  

E: 304996 

Brecon The Barracks, Sphinx 

House , Watton, Brecon, 

LD3 7EA 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

19 August 2022 

 

22/21091/LBC N: 228186  

E: 304996 

Brecon The Barracks, Sphinx 

House , Watton, Brecon, 

LD3 7EA 

Permit 19 August 2022 

      

      

 

22/21118/MINOR N: 220455  

E: 326417 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Croesfach , Llanbedr, 

Crickhowell, NP8 1SU 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

12 July 2022 

 

22/21120/DISCON N: 230317  

E: 326504 

Crucorney Penworlod , Llanthony, 

Abergavenny, NP7 7NW  

 

Permit 15 July 2022 

      

22/21126/DISCON N: 205521  

E: 330634 

Goetre Fawr 

(May 2022 

Includes 

Llanover) 

Maesycoed, Mamhilad, 

Pontypool, 

Monmouthshire,  

NP4 8RG 

Permit 

 

 

 

21 July 2022 

Page 35



 

  

 

  

 

22/21135/MINOR N: 222436  

E: 311418 

Talybont-on-

Usk 

Ty'r Criga , Talybont-On-

Usk, Brecon, Powys,  

LD3 7JD 

 

Permit 

 

 

11 July 2022 

 

22/21139/FUL N: 208003  

E: 290212 

Ystradfellte Ysgol Thomas Stephens , 

Pont Nedd Fechan, Neath, 

SA11 5UW 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

18 August 2022 

 

22/21143/FUL N: 228138  

E: 303834 

Brecon 10 St Davids Park, 

Llanfaes, Brecon, Powys, 

LD3 8EQ 

 

Permit 

 

 

15 August 2022 

 

22/21147/TRCA N: 228906  

E: 304448 

Brecon 9 Priory Hill, Brecon, 

Powys, LD3 9BH 

 

Works approved 

 

 

22 July 2022 

 

22/21146/FUL N: 218875  

E: 321448 

Crickhowell 7 Brookfields, 

Crickhowell, NP8 1DJ 

Permit 2 September 

2022 

 

      

 

22/21158/DISCON N: 210421  

E: 328038 

Llanfoist Fawr Garn Y Bwch , Oak Lane, 

Llanellen, Monmouthshire, 

NP7 9LD 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

29 July 2022 

 

22/21174/CPL N: 206979  

E: 330437 

Goetre Fawr 

(May 2022 

Includes 

Llanover) 

Byrgwm Bach , Pen-groes-

oped Road, Upper 

Llanover, Llanover, 

Monmouthshire, NP7 9EP 

Planning Permission Not 

Required 

 

15 July 2022 

 

      

22/21177/FUL N: 228983  

E: 304094 

Brecon 1 Fronwen Terrace , 

Cradoc Road, Brecon, 

Powys, LD3 9HB 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

7 September 

2022 

 

22/21179/FUL N: 242332  

E: 323014 

Hay-on-Wye The Bell , Bell Bank, Hay-

On-Wye, Hereford,  

HR3 5AG 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

18 August 2022 

 

22/21180/LBC N: 242332  

E: 323014 

Hay-on-Wye The Bell , Bell Bank, Hay-

On-Wye, Hereford,  

HR3 5AG 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

18 August 2022 

22/21182/FUL N: 217609  

E: 320954 

Llangattock Glanonney , Hillside Road, 

Llangattock, Crickhowell, 

NP8 1HU 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

25 August 2022 

Page 36



 

  

 

 

22/21183/LBC N: 217609  

E: 320954 

Llangattock Glanonney , Hillside Road, 

Llangattock, Crickhowell, 

NP8 1HU 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

26 August 2022 

 

22/21185/MINOR N: 224440  

E: 289597 

Crai Noddfa, Cray, Brecon, 

LD3 8YP 

Refuse 

 

 

 

29 July 2022 

Reason/s for refusal:- 

It is deemed the scale of the proposed change are great enough to cause an impact different to that caused by the original 

approved development scheme.  The proposed change may result in a detrimental impact either visually or in terms of local 

amenity.  The interests of any third party or body may be disadvantaged in planning terms.  The proposed change may conflict 

with national or development plan policies 

 

22/21186/TPO N: 217926  

E: 322215 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Elvicta Business Park, 

Crickhowell, Powys, NP8 

1DF 

Permit 

 

 

 

12 August 2022 

 

22/21187/CPL N: 228672  

E: 304721 

Brecon 13 Alexandra Road, 

Brecon, LD3 7PD 

 

Refuse 

 

 

22 July 2022 

Reason/s for refusal:- 

The proposal has been determined in accordance with Section 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

The Authority is not satisfied that the proposal to build a rear and side extension would be lawful, and therefore would not 

benefit from deemed planning permission pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2013, on the basis that the proposal fails to comply with Class A.1 (I)(i) 

by virtue of the proposal extending beyond the rear wall in excess of 4 metres. 

 

 

22/21191/DISCON N: 213002  

E: 283530 

Tawe Uchaf 8 Ynyswen Cottages , 

Penycae, Swansea, SA9 

1YP 

 

Permit 

 

 

15 August 2022 

 

22/21193/TRCA N: 218294  

E: 321716 

Crickhowell 42 High Street, 

Crickhowell, NP8 1BE  

Application not required 22 July 2022 

 

22/21209/DISCON N: 218499  

E: 321899 

Crickhowell The Little Malt House , 

Standard Street, 

Crickhowell, NP8 1BP 

Withdraw 

 

 

 

28 July 2022 

 

22/21217/DISCON N: 218500  

E: 321903 

Crickhowell The Little Malt House , 

Standard Street, 

Crickhowell, NP8 1BP 

Withdraw 

 

 

 

28 July 2022 

 

22/21219/DISCON N: 227797  

E: 328846 

Crucorney Court Farm, The Caravan 

Church Road, Llanthony, 

NP7 7NN 

Permit 6 September 

2022 

 

 

Page 37



 

  

 

22/21235/TPO N: 228853  

E: 304186 

Brecon The Avenue, Brecon, 

Powys 

 

Permit 

 

 

19 August 2022 

 

22/21238/FUL N: 218049  

E: 318343 

Llangattock Pencroeslan Isaf, 

Ffawyddog, Crickhowell, 

Powys, NP8 1PY 

 

Permit 

 

 

 

9 September 

2022 

 

22/21242/FUL N: 228983  

E: 317906 

Talgarth Canol Fryn , Talgarth, 

LD3 0EU 

 

Permit 

 

 

7 September 

2022 

 

22/21244/FUL N: 213169  

E: 292513 

Ystradfellte Penllwyneinon Farm , 

Ystradfellte, Aberdare, 

CF44 9JF 

Withdraw 8 August 2022 

 

 

22/21250/TPO N: 216061  

E: 325441 

Llanfoist Fawr Keith Price Garages Ltd, 

Brecon Road, 

Llanwenarth, 

Monmouthshire, NP8 1EP 

Permit 

 

 

19 August 2022 

 

22/21259/FUL N: 228648  

E: 304447 

Brecon 30 High Street Superior, 

Brecon, Powys, LD3 7AN  

Withdraw 

 

 

19 July 2022 

 

22/21266/DISCON N: 230317  

E: 326504 

Crucorney Penworlod, Llanthony, 

Abergavenny, NP7 7NW 

Permit 26 August 2022 

 

 

22/21273/TRCA N: 218280  

E: 321892 

Crickhowell Tree On Northern 

Perimeter Of Crickhowell 

Cricket Ground, A40 

(Beaufort Street), Opp 

Greenhill Way, 

Crickhowell, Powys 

 

Works approved 

 

 

 

 

18 August 2022 

 

22/21278/MINOR N: 225124  

E: 301783 

Glyn Tarell Cilrheol Farm, Modrydd, 

Brecon, LD3 8LE 

Permit 

 

 

9 September 

2022 

 

22/21279/FUL N: 228872  

E: 305128 

Brecon 88 Hoggan Park, Brecon, 

Powys, LD3 9AQ 

Withdraw 

 

 

 

11 August 2022 

 

22/21281/TRCA N: 230217  

E: 306917 

Llanddew Troedyrharn Farm , 

Llanddew, Brecon,  

LD3 0TR 

Planning Permission Not 

Required 

28 July 2022 

 

22/21284/MINOR N: 242336  

E: 323188 

Hay-on-Wye Lion Garage, Lion Street, 

Hay-On-Wye, Hereford, 

Powys, HR3 5AD 

Permit 

 

 

24 August 2022 

Page 38



 

  

 

  

 

22/21285/MINOR N: 223500  

E: 311536 

Talybont-on-

Usk 

Gilestone Farm , 

Talybont-On-Usk, Brecon, 

LD3 7JE 

Permit 23 August 2022 

 

22/21316/FUL N: 242412  

E: 322889 

Hay-on-Wye Council Offices , Belmont 

Road, Hay-On-Wye, 

Hereford, HR3 5BX 

Withdraw 

 

 

12 August 2022 

 

22/21317/FUL N: 242412  

E: 322889 

Hay-on-Wye Council Offices , Belmont 

Road, Hay-On-Wye, 

Hereford, HR3 5BX 

Withdraw 12 August 2022 

 

      

 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



AGRICULTURAL NOTIFICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS 

 

App No. Grid Ref. Community Address   Decision Date Issued 

 

 

 
22/21075/AGR N: 216414  

E: 325678 

Llanfoist Fawr Yr Graig Woodland  

 

AGR Permitted 

Development 

 

 

 

 

27 July 2022 

 
22/21181/AGR N: 219921  

E: 322632 

Vale Of 

Grwyney 

Ysgubor Newydd, Great 

Oak Road, Crickhowell, 

Powys, NP8 1SP  

 

AGR Prior Approval 

 

 

 

 

29 July 2022 

 
22/21198/AGR N: 210297  

E: 290093 

Ystradfellte Land At Former 

Plasmount Farm, Powys, 

SA11 5UR 

 

AGR Permitted 

Development 

 

 

 

 

28 July 2022 

 
22/21226/AGR N: 209758  

E: 292727 

Ystradfellte Sgwd Y Pannwr And Sgwd 

Yr Eira Near 

Pontneddfechan 

 

AGR Prior Approval 

 

 

 

 

16 August 2022 

 
22/21246/AGR N: 209590  

E: 294502 

Hirwaun Heol Las Farm , Chapel 

Road, Penderyn, Hirwaun, 

CF44 0YX,  

 

AGR Permitted 

Development 

 

 

 

 

12 August 2022 

 

Page 41

ENC6Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



FRINGE NOTIFICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS 

 

App No. Grid Ref. Community Address   Decision Date Issued 

 

 

 

 

 
22/21224/FRI N: 242980  

E: 323227 

NO DATA Land Adjacent To Cherry 

Trees, Newport Street, 

Cusop, Herefordshire, ,  

 

Withdraw 

 

 

 

 

15 August 2022 

 
22/21293/FRI N: 203025  

E: 291628 

NO DATA Land At Rhigos Forestry, 

Rhigos Road, Rhigos, 

Aberdare, ,  

 

Fringe No 

Comments 

 

 

 

 

1 August 2022 

 

Page 43

ENC6Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



N.B- Columns highlighted yellow are updates of new planning obligations since last PAROW    

N.B. Columns highlighted blue indicate that the matter has been withdrawn/aborted    

 
 

                PLANNING COMMITTEE – 27th September 2022 

Planning Obligations 
 

Key: 
AH – Affordable Housing    BIO – Biodiversity    COF – Community Facility    EDU – Education    HER – Heritage    HIW – Highways/Transport    
AF – Affordable Housing Contributions   OTH – Other     
REC – Recreation/Open Space/Footpath    RED – Rural Enterprise Dwelling/Land Tie 
 

With other party/parties                 With the Authority / Authority’s external solicitors 

Application 

Number 

Applicant/ 

Developer 

Site/ 

Location 

Development/ 

Proposal 

Planning 

Obligations 

Committee 

Date 

Date 

Completed 

 

 

Current 

Status 

19/17247/FUL Miss J Phillips 
Tircue Beasthouse, Cantref, Powys, 
Brecon LD3 8LL 

Change of use from holiday let to farming family 
residential dwelling 

AF/OTHER   

19/17839/CON Mr David Sutton 
Land At Pengellifach Farm, Vaynor, 
Nr Merthyr Tydfil CF48 2TU 

Modification of Section 106 associated with 
application MT18635 

Deed of 
Variation 

  

19/17602/FUL Ms Sara Tommerup Red Pig Farm, Llangadog SA19 9DR 
One Planet Development – one household, barn 
extensions, various new small sheds, and a green 
house 

Management 
plan and land 

tie 
  

20/19097/FUL Mr Glyn Smith Cilwych Barns, Llanspyddid, Brecon 

Proposed conversion of redundant agricultural 
buildings to two units of holiday accommodation, 
one unit of residential accommodation for a farm 
worker and manager, a single storey rear extension, 
external alterations including new roofs and 
insertion of roof lights, bat mitigation, new parking 
areas, access improvements and change of use of 
agricultural land to residential use.  

AF/OTHER   

 

P
age 45

E
N

C
6Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY  

PLANNING COMMITTEE  
 

SUMMARY OF APPEALS  

 

 
Appeal Lodged (Development Management) 

Ref Date  Appellant  Dev/Location  Description of 

Development 

21/20296/LBC 26.08.2022 Mr Andrew Bell 1 Union Mews  

Gipsy Castle 

Lane 

Hay-On-Wye 

Hereford 

HR3 5EB 

Replacement of 

windows and 

frames on ground 

floor 

 

 

 
Appeal Decision (Enforcement)  

Ref Date Appellant  Dev/Location  Description of 

Development  

Note 

ENF/16/01668/LB   10.06.2021  Andrew 

Burton  

The Long Barn, 

Newton, LD3 

8PA 

Unauthorised 

works to a 

curtilage-listed 

cart shed that 

have affected its 

character, and 

removal of 

exterior steps 

to formerly 

existing granary 

Appeal 

Dismissed  

 

(Appendix 

A)  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 47

ENC6Item 5



 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 
Ymchewiliad a gynhaliwyd ar 12/07/22 Hearing held on 12/07/22 

Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 13/07/22 Site visit made on 13/07/22 

gan A L McCooey BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI by A L McCooey BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 

Dyddiad: 16.08.2022 Date: 16.08.2022 

Appeal Ref: APP/P9502/F/21/3276837 

Site address: The Long Barn, Newton Farm, Brecon, Powys LD3 8PA 

The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the appointed 

Inspector. 

 The appeal is made under section 39 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991. 

 The appeal is made by Mr Andrew Burton against an enforcement notice issued by Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority. 

 The enforcement notice (the Notice), numbered ENF/16/01668/LB, was issued on 6 May 2021. 

 The contravention of listed building control alleged in the Notice is that: Unauthorised alterations 
have been carried out to the open fronted cart shed. These alterations are the taking down of the 
roof covering, roof structure, the brick and timber columns, the timbers supporting the front section 
of the roof, the south end wall and adjoining stone steps to the former granary building, also removal 
of the corrugated iron extension to the front and stone steps to former granary building. 

 The requirements of the Notice are: 
1. Carry out and complete all of the works specified in the Appendix ‘Schedule of Works’ to the 
curtilage listed open fronted cart shed edged blue on the attached plan. 
2. Remove all construction debris from the land edged red on the attached plan 

 The period for compliance with the requirements is 12 months. 

 The appeal is made on grounds a), c), d), e), h) and i) as set out in section 39(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (PLBCAA) as amended. 

Decision 

1. The ‘Schedule of Works’ is corrected by the deletion of the words “and make any 
necessary adjustments in agreement with the BBNPA” from paragraph 3 of the 
Introduction and the deletion of Informatives a. and b. Subject to these corrections the 
appeal is dismissed, the Listed Building Enforcement Notice (LBEN) is upheld and 
listed building consent is refused for the retention of the works carried out in 
contravention of section 9 of the PLBCAA. 

Applications for Costs 

2. Applications for costs have been made by the appellant and Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority. These applications are the subject of separate decisions. 

Appendix A 

Page 48



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/F/21/3276837 

Procedural and Preliminary Matters 

3. Although the appellant ticked ground (c) on the appeal form, (which is that those matters (if 
they occurred) do not constitute a contravention of section 9 (1) or (2) of the PLBCAA), no 
specific reference was made to this ground in the supporting case. However, it is clear that 
the case made by the appellant in written submissions and orally at the hearing relates to 
and relies heavily on this ground. The Local Planning Authority also considered that much 
of the evidence presented related to this ground. I have therefore considered the appeal 
on this basis. 

4. The appellant made a ground (i) appeal, which is that the steps required by the Notice for 
the purpose of restoring the character of the building to its former state would not serve 
that purpose. However, given that the LBEN relies on s.38 (2)(b) by specifying steps in a 
Schedule of Works which are necessary to alleviate the effect of the unauthorised works 
executed to the building without listed building consent (LBC), this is tantamount to a 
ground (j) appeal. I shall therefore consider the evidence to relate to ground (j) in this 
case. 

5. The appellant indicated that a ground (d) appeal was being made. However, he clarified at 
the hearing that, apart from the demolition of the stone steps, the works were not urgently 
necessary in the interests of health or safety. As the stone steps are not required to be re-
built in the Notice, the appellant confirmed that no appeal was being made on this ground. 

6. The introduction to the Schedule of Works states that the appointed Structural Engineer 
must check the site measurements shown on TR654/01D, T5654/02B, and T5654/03A 
prior to any reconstruction and make any necessary adjustments in agreement with the 
Local Planning Authority. Informatives a. and b. refer to the approval of the Local Planning 
Authority being necessary for amendments to the SW. The Notice must specify the 
remedial works with sufficient precision to obviate the need for the appellant to obtain any 
further or subsequent approval from the Local Planning Authority. These stipulations are 
therefore inappropriate, unnecessary and confusing. I agree with the appellant that they 
should be deleted from the SW and I so direct. 

7. The above are technical procedural matters. The evidence itself is unaffected and there is 
no prejudice to any party as a result of these changes. 

8. I have considered the screening of the works under the Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations undertaken by the Local Planning Authority. The screening rightly concluded 
that the nature and scale of the works meant that an Environmental Impact Assessment 
would not be required. The works would not increase the volume or concentration of 
wastewater entering the catchment of the River Wye Special Area of Conservation. In 
these circumstances there would be no requirement for an appropriate assessment under 
the Habitat Regulations. 

Background 

9. Newton House is a Grade I listed building. The listing describes it is a large square-plan 
house of three storeys (sic) plus attics and constructed of stone (mainly rendered) with a 
pyramidal slate roof. The house was built in 1582 by John Games. The reasons for its 
listing at Grade I is as an important C16 house retaining historic character including 
screen, fine plasterwork, and carved inscription. It also has group Value with two adjacent 
Grade II listed agricultural buildings: the Long Barn (named as Newton Barn) and the 
Agent’s House and Barn to the south. 

2 Page 49



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/F/21/3276837 

10. The Long Barn is close to Newton House and forms the north side of the farmyard. It is 
listed as a late 17th century barn retaining its character and due to its group value with 
Newton House and the Agent’s House. Photographs show that there was a range of 
buildings along the east side of the farmyard between the Long Barn and Agent’s House. 
The range comprised of the subject building close to the Long Barn, then a Granary 
building with steps and another building linking to the Agent’s House and barn. The 
Granary building is outside the appeal site and has been demolished. 

11. The subject building (open fronted cart shed) is a later (probably 19th century) building that 
has stone walls to the gables and rear. As it pre-dates 1948 it is a curtilage listed building 
(see below). Photographic evidence was supplied showing the condition of the building 
prior to the works being carried out. There was a tin sheet lean-to with timber post 
supports along the front of the building. The roof of the shed itself was a mixture of tin and 
asbestos roofing sheets supported by brick and timber piers and the rear wall. There was a 
cobble floor to part of the building and a wooden partition separating the shed from steps 
at the south end of the building leading to the upper floor of the Granary building. 

12. LBC was granted for the conversion of the Long Barn into a dwelling (reference 
08/01839/LBC). The open fronted shed was shown on the proposed site layout plan. A 
note stated that it was to be repaired. It does not appear on any other approved plan. 
Copies of reports confirm that the Authority considers this LBC and an associated planning 
permission to have been implemented. 

13. Around 2015/16 the alleged unauthorised works described in the Notice were carried out. 
Since then, there have been ongoing discussions attempting to secure an application for 
LBC for the works. Copies of correspondence including responses to complaints against 
the Authority have been supplied by the appellant and the Authority. I have taken account 
of the content. There were pre-application discussions regarding various schemes. An 
application for LBC for a re-building scheme (Ref. 19/17057/LBC) was refused in 2019 for 
four reasons related to the loss of historic elements and the height and scale of the 
proposal. 

14. The Local Planning Authority stated that a decision was taken not to prosecute the 
appellant for offences under Section 9(1) of the PLBCAA. Instead, the Authority decided to 
issue a LBEN when negotiations to secure an acceptable rebuilding scheme failed. The 
Notice requires re-building of the roof and piers in accordance with an attached Schedule 
of Works. 

The Schedule of Works (SW) 

15. The SW consists of an introduction which explains the information used to prepare the 
document, the schedule itself, informatives/notes and 3 accompanying plans. The 
appellant is required to appoint a Consultant Structural Engineer to conduct a detailed 
inspection of the building. The Engineer must report on the stability of the masonry walls, 
and the extent of the repairs necessary to ensure that the walls are structurally sound and 
capable of supporting a new roof structure. The appointed person must also supervise the 
works. 

16. Two options for the roof covering and pillar construction were included in the original SW 
and some notes on the plans did not tally with the specifications in the SW. The Local 
Planning Authority have amended the SW to correct these errors. 

3 Page 50



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/F/21/3276837 

17. The appellant argued that the proposed foundations specified in the SW would not be 
suitable due to ground conditions. The Authority has sought guidance from consultant 
engineers who confirm that the raft foundation design (shown in the drawings submitted by 
the appellant to accompany the 2019 application) is not essential. This design was for a 
different type of proposal than the re-building works in the SW. The Local Planning 
Authority considers that the foundation design is appropriate based on this advice and no 
convincing evidence was presented to persuade me otherwise. Overall, I consider that the 
SW (as amended) is precise and tells the appellant what he has to do. The SW clearly 
identifies in detail the works necessary to reinstate the roof and piers in the context of 
caselaw. 

The appeal on ground a) – That the building is not of special architectural or historic 
interest. 

18. Section 1(5) of the PLBCAA defines a listed building as a building which is for the time 
being included in a list compiled or approved by the Secretary of State under this section. 
It also states that for the purposes of this Act: (a) any object or structure fixed to the 
building; or (b) any object or structure within the curtilage of the building which, although 
not fixed to the building, forms part of the land and has done so since before 1st July 1948, 
shall be treated as part of the building. The building the subject of this appeal has been 
present since before 1948. It is therefore part of the listed building. It is no part of the 
appellant’s case that the Long Barn and Newton House are not of special architectural or 
historic interest and should be removed from the list. The significance of the building lies in 
its aesthetic value in terms of its relationship to the group of listed buildings, providing 
enclosure to the east of the complex. The unauthorised works have diminished its value 
but do not detract from its overall significance. 

19. In light of the foregoing, I consider that the building is still worthy of its listed status and the 
appeal fails on ground (a). 

The appeal on ground (c) – that the matters alleged in the LBEN (if they occurred) do 
not constitute such a contravention. 

20. In a ground (c) appeal the merits of the works are not considered. The matter at issue 
relates solely to whether or not the character of a listed building has been changed by the 
works carried out; this is irrespective of whether or not such works have been harmful to 
the listed building. It must be conclusively shown, therefore, that the works have not 
altered the character of the structure and thus they do not constitute a contravention of the 
Act, or that an LBC is in place for the works. 

21. The appellant’s case on this ground relies on two main arguments: firstly, that the works 
were authorised by the original listed building consent for the conversion of the Long Barn 
(Ref: 08/01839/LBC); and secondly, that the works constitute repairs. It is also argued that 
these repairs were authorised by a former Heritage Officer of the National Park Authority. 

Approval of LBC (Ref. 08/01839/LBC) 

22. The only reference to the appeal building in this consent was a notation on the approved 
layout plan that states the open shed will be repaired and will provide covered parking and 
storage of garden equipment. The front lean-to has been removed from the building and 
this appears to be shown on the approved layout plan. In any event, the Local Planning 
Authority does not challenge its removal. 

4 Page 51



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/F/21/3276837 

23. However, the unauthorised works to the building go much further, resulting in the removal 
of the roof structure and covering, the supporting piers, internal partitions, the cobbled floor 
and the stone steps, so that only the walls remain. No detail of the existing and proposed 
design, appearance or materials are shown on the approved plans. Whilst the note refers to 
works to repair the building, repairs would only include work on a like-for-like basis using 
the same techniques and materials and would be limited to what is reasonably necessary to 
make failing elements sound. For these reasons, I do not consider that the extensive works 
undertaken can be interpreted as approved under 08/01839/LBC. 

Whether the works were repairs 

24. The works have resulted in the removal of the roof and roof structure, the supporting 
pillars, and the floor. This amounts to alterations and demolition and not repairs. 

25. Although the appellant also argues that the works were authorised by an officer of the 
National Park Authority. I have not been provided with evidence of a written record of any 
such approval. Discussions on site are open to misunderstandings and misinterpretation. 
The verbal comments of an officer cannot grant LBC or bind the Authority. I have had 
sight of an email response stating that work under an extant consent could continue 
provided it is consistent with that consent, albeit the question posed related to an 
application for planning permission for the conversion works. This does not alter the 
position. In any event, it was made clear in writing on several occasions that LBC was 
required for the works that are the subject of the Notice. This allegation was the subject 
of complaints to the Authority, which were not upheld. It is not my role to review the 
actions of the Authority in this regard. 

26. I conclude that the character of the listed building has been changed by the works carried 
out, which were not granted consent under approval 08/01839/LBC, do not constitute 
repairs and were not subsequently authorised by the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority. Given these conclusions the appeal on ground (c) must fail. 

The appeal on ground e) – that listed building consent ought to be granted for the 
works 

27. I consider the main issue on this ground to be the effect of the works on the special 
architectural and historic character of the Grade II Listed Long Barn and the Grade I 
listed Newton House. 

28. The Local Planning Authority and the response from Cadw to this appeal sets out the 
heritage significance of the building in detail. The form and layout contribute to its historic 
significance as part of a group of farm buildings that contributes to the setting of the nearby 
listed buildings. The significance of the open-fronted cart shed was assessed as part of a 
Heritage Impact Assessment submitted with the application for LBC for a re-building 
scheme (Ref. 19/17057/LBC). I note that the report considers the four component values 
as set out in the Cadw document ‘Conservation Principles’. 

29. The cart shed retains some historical and evidential value in the form of the stone walls. 
Other features have been lost as a result of the unauthorised works, including the attached 
stone steps. I consider that the building has aesthetic value in terms of its relationship to the 
group of listed buildings, providing enclosure to the east of the complex. It is part of the 
historic form of Newton House and farmyard, illustrating the development of the farmstead 
layout and placing the surrounding listed buildings more clearly within their agricultural 
context and setting. This value remains even in its current condition. 

5 Page 52



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/F/21/3276837 

30. The integrity and intrinsic value of this building has been diminished by the works. The 
relationship with the surrounding buildings and the contribution to the setting of the listed 
buildings has been adversely affected by the loss of the roof structure. The appellant’s 
suggested piecemeal approach downplays this contribution and group value. I repeat my 
conclusions above that there is a requirement for LBC and that the works exceed what can 
be regarded as repair. 

31. The appellant argued that the fact that several elements did not have heritage significance 
and that other works were authorised (or not enforced against) should be given significant 
weight and that the appeal should succeed. The Local Planning Authority has excluded 
several removed elements from the SW. The documents supplied explain the decision to 
under-enforce against these elements, because their reinstatement would not serve any 
useful purpose or consent would have been granted for their removal. It was noted that the 
granary building was demolished many years ago and re-building of the steps would not 
therefore be appropriate or serve any useful purpose. 

32. Success on this ground of appeal would grant consent for the works that have been 
undertaken to the building as specified in the LBEN. The result would be allowing the 
open-fronted cart shed to remain in its current condition for the long-term. I conclude that 
this would result in harm to the special character and significance of the Long Barn and to 
the settings of the Long Barn and Newton House. 

33. This would be contrary to the statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving listed buildings or their settings or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which they possess (Section 16 of the Act). The granting of consent as 
part of this appeal would result in harm to a heritage asset and the setting of listed 
buildings, which would be contrary to the above statutory duty and Local Development 
Plan and national Policy and guidance. The appeal on ground (e) fails. 

The appeal on ground h) – that the period allowed to complete the steps is too short 

34. The appellant argues that the 12-month period is too short because works using lime 
mortar may not be undertaken in the winter months. He also refers to potential problems 
with sourcing materials. The Local Planning Authority pointed out that the season for 
working with lime mortar would extend from late Spring to early Autumn. Given that the 
condition of the remaining walls may deteriorate, I consider that it would not be appropriate 
to extend the period for compliance. The removal of the references to the approval of the 
Local Planning Authority in the introduction and informatives in the SW means that this 
cannot be a source of delay, thereby addressing the appellant’s concerns in this regard. 

35. I note that the Authority was prepared to consider extending the period to 18 months and 
that Section 38 (5) (b) allows the Local Planning Authority to extend the period 
specified whether or not the notice has taken effect. This reinforces my conclusion above. 
For these reasons I conclude that the appeal on ground (h) should fail. 

The appeal on ground (j) – that the steps required to be taken exceed what is 
necessary to alleviate the effects of the works executed to the building 

36. The appellant’s argument in submissions was that the requirement to have a sinusoidal 
metal sheet roof would not be appropriate and would be totally alien to the Newton Farm 
courtyard. He also refers to the comments of Cadw that it is unfortunate the SW requires 
square brick pillars rather than the original circular profile. 

6 Page 53



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/F/21/3276837 

37. Caselaw has established that it would be unreasonable for a LBEN to be used to secure 
an improvement to a listed building compared to its state prior to the carrying out of the 
unauthorised works, (Bath City Council v SoS for the Environment & another [1983]). The 
roof was a mixture of asbestos and tin sheeting and so the proposed use of metal 
sheeting would be appropriate in these circumstances. Only one circular pillar was 
present prior to the works. The Cadw Inspector recognises that it would be unreasonable 
to insist all the pillars should have a circular profile. I consider that the requirement for 
square pillars represents a reasonable compromise given what was present before the 
works were undertaken. 

38. As noted above, the Local Planning Authority has omitted several items from the SW, 
which is to the appellant’s advantage. Having considered all the points raised, I 
conclude that the Appeal on ground (j) fails. 

Other matters 

39. The relevant comments made by a nearby owner have been addressed above. I have 
not considered the matters raised in relation to other proposals for the building and other 
works unrelated to the LBEN before me. 

Conclusion 

40. Having taken all the submitted evidence and relevant matters into consideration, 
I conclude that the appeal must fail, and the Notice is upheld. 

41. I have considered the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under 
section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”). In 
reaching this decision, I have taken into account the ways of working set out at section 5 
of the WBFG Act and I consider that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers 
well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

A L McCooey 

Inspector 

Appearances 

Local Planning Authority  

Ms S O’Brien Enforcement Officer 

Ms Janet Poole MRTPI MIHBC Senior Heritage Officer 

Appellant  
Mr A Burton  

Mrs A Burton 

7 

 Page 54



SCHEDULE 12A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE OF DOCUMENTS 

 
 

REPORTS: 
 

Delegated Decision Enforcement Reports  
 
 

 
AUTHORS: 
 

 
Enforcement Officers 
 
 
 

MEETING AND DATE OF 
MEETING: 
 

Planning Committee 
27th September 2022 

 
 
I have considered grounds for exemption of information contained in the report referred to 
above and make the following recommendation to the Proper Officer:- 
 
 
Exemptions applying to the report: 
 

 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of a particular person 
 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 

prevention, investigation, or prosecution of crime.  
 
Factors in favour of disclosure: 
 

 Facilitate the accountability and transparency of our decisions;  

 Facilitate accountability and transparency in the spending of public money;  

 Allow individuals to understand decisions made by the authority 

 
Prejudice which would result if the information were disclosed: 
  

 Disclose the identity of individuals prior to a decision being taken whether or not to 
take action – causing unnecessary concern to the individual and public opprobrium if 
proceedings are not pursued. 

 Prejudice potential judicial proceedings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 55

ENC7Item 1



My view on the public interest test is as follows: 
  
I have considered the enforcement cases contained within the aforementioned reports to be 
presented to Planning Committee on the 27th September 2022 and have measured each 
case against the public interest test.  For the reasons outlined above, I consider that the 
factors in favour of disclosure are outweighed by those against.  
 
Recommended decision on exemption from disclosure: 
 
For the reasons set out above, it is recommended that the information contained within these 
enforcement reports is exempt from disclosure. 
 
 
 
Date:  9th September 2022 
 

Signed:           
 
Post:  Principal Planning Officer 
 
 
I accept the recommendation made above. 

 
___________________________ 
                   Proper Officer 
 
Date: 12th September 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 56



Document is Restricted

Page 57

ENC7Item 2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 17, 18 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	ENC4 Minutes of last meeting
	ENC5Item 1 22/21074/FUL - Craig Y Nos
	ENC5Item 2 Tree Preservation Order 54 2021
	ENC6Item 1 Delegated Decision Report
	ENC6Item 2 Agricultural Notifications
	ENC6Item 3 Fringe Notifications
	ENC6Item 4 Planning Obligation Report
	ENC6Item 5 Planning Appeals Report
	ENC7Item 1 Enforcement Exemption form
	ENC7Item 2 Enforcement Delegated Decisions Report - Confidential

